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          2                 I just wanted to throw that out

          3  there. But I'm really concerned about the variable,

          4  because I know that here in the City of New York,

          5  health indicators, at least in my community, may

          6  AEDs almost a household appliance if we could get

          7  our hands on it.

          8                 So, could you address that?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Are you

         10  asking -- I'm not sure exactly what the question is.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: You talked

         12  about the statistical analysis --

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Right.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: -- Which put

         15  us into the 300-year, 500-year category for the use

         16  of the defibrillators; I wanted to know if one of

         17  the variables used in the City of New York to come

         18  up with those numbers were based on demographics

         19  information within the City of New York, the various

         20  communities, communities of color, where you have a

         21  higher incidence of heart disease, those types of

         22  things.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: The data

         24  that I included in my testimony is from Seattle

         25  Kings County --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Haven't even

          3  done it here in the City of New York.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: These

          5  weren't data from the City of New York.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Oh, okay. I

          7  thought that was relevant to us here. Okay.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I think

          9  it is relevant to us here. I think that --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Seattle has

         11  the same health indicators and disparities that we

         12  have here in the City of New York.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: This

         14  whole nation has the same health disparities that we

         15  have in the City of New York.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I beg to

         17  differ. I beg to differ.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: No, I

         19  think throughout this nation you're quite right to

         20  point out that in communities of color there are

         21  higher rates of cardiovascular disease, many cancers

         22  are more, occur more frequently and have a less

         23  favorable outcome.

         24                 That observation isn't limited to the

         25  City of New York. It is an observation that's been

                                                            150

          1  EDUCATION AND HEALTH

          2  made throughout this nation, and one that causes

          3  thousands of unnecessary and unfair deaths every

          4  year.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I'm not here

          6  to challenge you --

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Your

          8  question is I think --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: No, you

         10  definitely have me on the expertise, but when you

         11  look at the specifics of the environment of the

         12  individuals that live here in the City of New York,

         13  and you compare that to Kings County Seattle, I

         14  mean, you know, I'm trying to see the comparisons.

         15  You know, if you can present that so that it means

         16  something of substance to the people of the City of

         17  New York, that's fine. But what I'm saying to you is

         18  that given the conditions that the people of the

         19  City of New York lived under, it's kind of hard to

         20  make that case, unless you have it.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: We don't

         22  have data from the City of New York of the sort that

         23  I gave you from Kings County. I think that you're

         24  asking me whether we have data on whether the risk

         25  of sudden cardiac death differs by, differs by race
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          2  or by ethnic group, and I don't have those data

          3  either for the City of New York.

          4                 The most important determinant of the

          5  risk of cardiac arrest is age. As people get older,

          6  the risk of cardiac arrest is up, and that holds

          7  across age, race, I mean it holds against race and

          8  gender.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I understand

         10  your basic premise, and that was the basic premise

         11  for type 2 diabetes at one point, and since we

         12  haven't done the analysis in the study, and we

         13  recognize that in a community like mine, we now have

         14  an epidemic in type 2 diabetes. I don't think it's

         15  fair for us to put a blanket statement, until the

         16  Department of Health of the City of New York is

         17  prepared to invest in a study that definitively

         18  answers the questions that I'm raising in the year

         19  2001, we have to step away from that because there

         20  are people within our communities that are ailing,

         21  very poor health, and we don't know what the causes

         22  are, we haven't begun to do the studies to begin to

         23  litigate those problems within our community. We

         24  know that the environmental factors are getting

         25  worse in many communities, years ago when there
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          2  weren't asthma in many communities, now everyone has

          3  asthma. I mean these are things that the Department

          4  of Health has not even studied yet, not even put any

          5  statistical money to.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I beg to

          7  differ with you. We've invested a great deal in

          8  learning about diabetes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Fine. But you

         10  haven't brought that information to the table.

         11  You're talking about --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Let's try and do

         13  one at a time.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: You're talking

         15  about heart disease. You brought nothing to the

         16  table except for a study from Seattle Kings County

         17  to deal with that issue, when there are health care

         18  agencies within my community that's telling me that

         19  heart disease is rampant. So, until we have that

         20  information, how do we jump to a conclusion and we

         21  don't have and have not embarked upon the study, and

         22  then say that we can make a comparative analysis

         23  with Seattle Kings County.

         24                 I mean, I don't want to, you know,

         25  you're a doctor and everything but that looks like
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          2  apples and oranges to me and maybe that's the way

          3  health indicators are dealt with now, but it doesn't

          4  sit well with me, especially when we don't know

          5  what's happening in the City of New York. We don't

          6  know whether in fact there's an underlying cause for

          7  the continued -- there are some other underlying

          8  causes for the continued heart disease that we're

          9  seeing within our community, and that in fact these

         10  may become required equipment within our community.

         11  We don't know. You haven't done the study.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I'll be

         13  happy to share with you some data on some of the

         14  conditions that you've raised, that we can help you

         15  with giving you some figures on diabetes, on heart

         16  disease.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: No, I'm

         18  talking about heart disease and I'm talking about

         19  the use of defibrillators. I use those simply as an

         20  example of some of the things that we have not

         21  addressed, that historically at one point in time

         22  type 2 diabetes was not an issue for us, okay? We're

         23  seeing an increase in certain poor health indicators

         24  in certain communities throughout the City of New

         25  York, the commensurate response to that has not come
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          2  forth yet. Here it is we have an equipment to deal

          3  with those who may suffer from a chronic heart

          4  ailment that may lead to a cardiac arrest.

          5                 In some communities there are more

          6  incidents of poor cardiac conditions than in others.

          7  And, so, you may see as a result of that an increase

          8  for the need to help those who go into arrest, that

          9  may be increasing over time, how would we know? Have

         10  we studied it? That's all I'm saying.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: If you have any of

         12  that data provide it to the committee, we'll forward

         13  it to the Council member and to the other committee

         14  members, and I apologize, Council Member Stewart has

         15  a question.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

         17  Madam Chair.

         18                 I was just trying to go over from my

         19  testimony some of the steps, and I'm going to ask a

         20  simple question, if you can answer, you let me know.

         21  What did you say the cost per unit is, about $300?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: For an

         23  AED?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Yes.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: The cost
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          2  is usually given, is about $3,000. Evidently it can

          3  be as low as $2,200 or $2,000.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: $3,000.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: And then

          7  costs for maintenance is what about?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Well,

          9  those estimates include a whole range of estimates.

         10  They include training and administration. So, I

         11  can't give you a cost per unit of maintenance. We

         12  didn't calculate --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Well, just an

         14  average.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: We'll

         16  get back to you on that.

         17                 What we did, we did come up with an

         18  estimate of a cost of implementing legislation that

         19  was proposed several years ago, Intro. 447 and 448.

         20  We haven't redone those calculations.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So, could you

         22  give me an average of what do you think it will cost

         23  to maintain one of these?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: The cost

         25  for implementing the legislation 447 was estimated
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          2  at about $44 million, and 448 at nearly $24 million.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I --

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I

          5  understand the question.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: No, no, I just

          7  wanted to make sure, just for the Council member,

          8  they're the same bills.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Okay.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: They're different

         11  bill numbers because they were in the prior Council.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: They may

         13  not be the same calculations, but the time that

         14  these calculations were made, for example, the AED

         15  costs may have been higher.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: And

         18  other costs may be different. That's why we try to

         19  make clear that these are old calculations based on

         20  the previous legislation.

         21                 I don't think, based on these

         22  legislations, as they're drafted that we know how

         23  many AEDs would have to be put in place to meet the

         24  requirements of the legislation. Just as the

         25  Department of Education is struggling with how many
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          2  AEDs they'll need to put in place?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Well, the

          4  reason I'm asking that, I'm going down the line

          5  because I need to get -- I want to do a little

          6  comparison. So, you don't know per unit maintenance,

          7  you don't have a figure on that?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: We don't

          9  have a number of units.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: And basically

         11  who should bear this cost, the public or the City or

         12  the State? Who should bear this cost?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Well,

         14  that's a very good question. In private venues,

         15  should it be the state that bears these costs or

         16  should it be the private, the business owners who

         17  bear the cost --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So, in other

         19  words, you're saying that we're trying to legislate

         20  laws that we don't know what they're going to cost

         21  the consumer?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Well, we

         23  made an effort, but it's difficult because we have

         24  to make some assumptions in order even to make these

         25  estimates, and we don't know, in fact, exactly how
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          2  much it would cost to implement this legislation.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: The other

          4  question I may have, how do we compare --

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: It would

          6  be a lot, however.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: How do we

          8  compare funding for the issues like diabetes? We

          9  know that diabetes is rampant and HIV/AIDS is

         10  rampant in certain communities; how do we compare

         11  the funding for those type of problems that we have

         12  within our communities, the funding? How do we

         13  compare that?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Well, I

         15  can answer for my division that our total budget

         16  available for all chronic diseases is substantially

         17  lower than what we've projected based on the

         18  legislation a couple of years ago.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So, what

         20  you're saying in actuality is that in my district

         21  where AIDS and HIV is a problem, and you know that

         22  you can do a lot about it, you're spending a lot

         23  less than what we're going to try to legislate right

         24  now?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: AIDS and
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          2  HIV don't fall directly in my division at the

          3  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene. The budget

          4  for HIV and AIDS is substantially higher than the

          5  budget that we have available for chronic diseases.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I'm trying to

          7  do a comparison, but I'm not getting --

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Am I not

          9  helping you?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Right.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I'm

         12  afraid that I don't know the number available for

         13  HIV and AIDS, but it will be higher than the 44

         14  million.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Yes, but you

         16  said awhile ago that the 44 million is, you're not

         17  too sure what it's going to be doing, how many AEDs

         18  you'll be -- and you also after you've done that,

         19  just to administer, the costs might be the public,

         20  that's what you're saying? To install the equipment

         21  --

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: And to

         24  maintain the equipment?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Awhile ago

          3  you said in many instances it will be the public

          4  that will be doing that. In other words, a person

          5  who owns the building, or a person who owns that

          6  private hospital, or wherever it is, they will have

          7  to foot the bill, right?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: The

          9  legislation is not clear on who is going to pay for

         10  this.

         11                 When I talk about public funds, I'm

         12  talking about funds that you control in the City

         13  Council, that the legislation doesn't make clear

         14  what the contribution of the private sector should

         15  be to the cost of putting this program in place.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So the 44

         17  million that you spoke about awhile ago, is

         18  basically to see that it's happened, not necessarily

         19  to put it in place?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: The 44

         21  million was an estimate for the implementation of

         22  that bill that was based on the best interpretation

         23  that we could make of what was meant by a public

         24  place and was developed in conjunction with OMB. But

         25  it was difficult to come up with estimates and this
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          2  number was developed a couple of years ago.

          3                 So, the way in which this legislation

          4  would be -- the way in which the necessary

          5  activities and programs with this legislation would

          6  require will be paid for is not clear. We're just

          7  trying to give you a notion of how much it would

          8  likely cost.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So, you're

         10  saying that you recommend that they do a lot more

         11  studies on this to find out exactly where we're

         12  going with it? Before such a legislation is enacted,

         13  do you think that we should do a lot more studies on

         14  this?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: That's

         16  correct. We need to be clearer about where, how,

         17  when, where, all of those issues need to be clear.

         18  The cost needs to be clearly considered by the

         19  Council.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 Those are our final questions.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Thank

         25  you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: We're next going

          3  to hear from Rachel Moyer and Karen Acompora. I want

          4  to again apologize for us starting late.  And also

          5  apologize -- well, not apologize, but I think the

          6  panels, the discussions with the government agencies

          7  ran long because obviously the Council members are

          8  very interested in this issue and want to try to

          9  understand it, so for those of you who have come to

         10  testify, I just want to thank you so much for

         11  waiting. I apologize again for that Transportation

         12  Committee ran late, and thank you very much for your

         13  working with us.

         14                 So, again if Rachel Moyer and Karen

         15  Acompora. Oh, I'm sorry, Rachel Moyer and John

         16  Acompora could come up to the witness table, that

         17  would be great. So if you have any materials, just

         18  give it to the Sergeants. Thank you.

         19                 MR. ACOMPORA: Thank you. Okay, thank

         20  you, first of all, for having me here this

         21  afternoon.

         22                 This is Louis Acompora, my son. This

         23  here what I'm wearing is a piece of Louis' Jersey.

         24  Louis was an exceptional young man. He was an honor

         25  roll student, a member of the National Honor
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          2  Society, and he won the Scholastic Athlete of the

          3  Year Award in his middle school. He had just started

          4  high school. He was the co-captain and goalie of his

          5  Lacrosse team. Most importantly, he had loved life

          6  and he was loved by his family, friends and

          7  community.

          8                 On March 25th he was playing in his

          9  first game of his high school career. Early in the

         10  second quarter he blocked a routine shot with his

         11  chest. He took a few steps and collapsed. At that

         12  time we had no idea that Louis was in cardiac

         13  arrest. CPR was immediately started by his coach,

         14  but to no avail. Louis died on the field that day

         15  because a critical link was missing in this chain of

         16  survival, early defibrillation.

         17                 Louis died with my wife and I

         18  kneeling by his side. Louis died from a syndrome

         19  known as "Commotio Cordis." This occurs when a blunt

         20  impact, in his case, hit with a Lacrosse ball,

         21  interrupts the rhythm of the heart. The heart begins

         22  to quiver. The only known treatment is early

         23  defibrillation. There was no defibrillator

         24  available. EMS arrived 12 minutes after he

         25  collapsed. According to the American Heart
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          2  Association, defibrillation is needed within three

          3  to five minutes for someone even to have a chance of

          4  survival.

          5                 I must point out, Louis passed away

          6  less than a quarter of a mile from a major trauma

          7  center on Long Island, Good Samaritan Hospital.

          8  Louis was 100 percent healthy. There was no previous

          9  existing conditions whatsoever. Unlike millions of

         10  people who die from heart disease every year, Louis

         11  was healthy, and Louis was wearing a chest

         12  protector. He was only 14 years old when he died.

         13                 To commemorate the life of our child,

         14  we chose to take hurt, anger and pain and follow the

         15  path of education and prevention. Preventing this

         16  horror from ever happening to another child,

         17  teacher, administrator, or parent is our number one

         18  goal.

         19                 We established the Louis J. Acompora

         20  Memorial Foundation to help educate and promote

         21  awareness of Commotio Cordis and the need for

         22  Automatic External Defibrillators. We conducted, and

         23  continue to conduct educational workshops across the

         24  entire United States, and my wife is going to Canada

         25  in two weeks as well. Workshops to educate people on

                                                            165

          1  EDUCATION AND HEALTH

          2  medical, legal and practical aspects of implementing

          3  AED programs. In addition, we have developed an

          4  educational kit to provide institutions with

          5  accurate, practical information on how to properly

          6  establish an AED program.

          7                 This is the kit. We have sent close

          8  to 5,000 of these around the country and

          9  internationally now. It walks you through why you

         10  should put AEDs in your school, and how to put AEDs

         11  in your school.

         12                 We distribute these completely free

         13  of charge through the money we raised through Louis'

         14  foundation. I have about 30 kits here, I would like

         15  everyone to take one. Take it home, look through the

         16  information, watch the video, and then I beg of you,

         17  take it to your local school district.

         18                 The Foundation also began working on

         19  county legislation. The Suffolk Legislature took the

         20  steps to implement a task force that would determine

         21  where and what and to what extent AEDs should be

         22  implemented in our county. As a result, we now have

         23  100 percent of all of our police cars equipped.

         24                 Also, our county parks, buildings and

         25  other facilities are equipped with AEDs and I might
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          2  add the staff trained to use them.

          3                 At the State level, our next step was

          4  to ensure passage of law requiring all New York

          5  schools to have AEDs to help protect children,

          6  adults, and anyone who enters or works in schools,

          7  from the affects of sudden cardiac arrest. Despite

          8  major obstacles, this legislation was passed

          9  unanimously. Thankfully, Governor George Pataki had

         10  the courage and wisdom to pass this bill into law,

         11  knowing that this important piece of legislation

         12  will save lives.

         13                 Beyond that, the public awareness

         14  need for AEDs and a strong Chain of Survival, has

         15  impacted the private sector as well. We now have

         16  small and major businesses with PAD programs. Towns

         17  and villages are becoming heart safe, putting AEDs

         18  in public places where people gather. Our own public

         19  libraries also have begun AED programs. Schools are

         20  now teaching children lifesaving CPR. A future

         21  generation is learning to save lives. In Norport

         22  High School where Louis would have graduated this

         23  fall, every student takes the American Heart AED

         24  lifesaver course as part of their health program.

         25                 In awareness, we have also created a
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          2  great opportunity for both public and private

          3  partnerships, resulting in schools receiving support

          4  from a number of venues, including the Critical Care

          5  Nurses Association, who are now providing free

          6  training to Suffolk County school districts in

          7  conjunction with the foundation.

          8                 Legislators, county and state, have

          9  donated money to support their local schools.

         10                 Civic and parent organizations have

         11  also helped provide funding for their local

         12  districts. Forty-seven AEDs were donated by just two

         13  of our hospitals to help their schools set up AED

         14  programs. It has truly become a cooperative effort.

         15  No one expects the schools to do this alone. There

         16  is no reason why the City of New York school system

         17  cannot offer the same life saving opportunities in

         18  their schools. It has already been required of them

         19  by law, and it is now time to move forward.

         20                 We must all work together to make

         21  this happen. We can overcome any obstacles, with

         22  solutions, but it must be now, not later. No more

         23  lives must be lost.

         24                 As I mentioned, the ripple effect

         25  adhering to the AED school legislation has become
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          2  enormous in many areas. But most importantly, the

          3  effect has -- but most importantly, the most

          4  important effect has been in the lives of those who

          5  have already been saved.

          6                 Mohammad Shah, a 15-year-old student

          7  at Smithtown High School, which is about five miles

          8  away from Norport High School, where my son would

          9  have gone, collapsed between two school buildings.

         10  This school had voluntarily started their own AED

         11  program. Mohammad was saved.

         12                 Andrea LeFleur from Orange-Ulster

         13  Boces High School in New York collapsed in school

         14  this past December and was defibrillated by the

         15  school nurse. Several teachers and students were

         16  also instrumental in her rescue. The AED was just

         17  installed a few weeks prior in response to the new

         18  state law. Andrea LeFleur was saved.

         19                 Dylan Moehringer, an 18-month-old

         20  infant, received rescue breathing from a neighbor, a

         21  local administrator. This administrator learned CPR

         22  as part of his school's AED program. Dylan was

         23  saved.

         24                 John Tierney, a spectator at a high

         25  school football game - where the high school had
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          2  brought their own AED, as required by law, was

          3  saved. John showed up to watch his nephew's playoff

          4  game.

          5                 There have been and will continue to

          6  be more saved, but what route will New York City

          7  choose? We choose to focus on saving lives. We are

          8  all here now to help you overcome any obstacle by

          9  providing some solutions. We must not forget that

         10  the most important fact is to have staff willing and

         11  able to perform life-saving skills in the event of

         12  an emergency.

         13                 I truly believe empowering your staff

         14  through education is important. They must know that

         15  they will be a key player in the event of an

         16  emergency. Their support is of the utmost

         17  importance.

         18                 To help provide a solution, we hope

         19  that New York City Board of Education will consider

         20  our offer to help provide educational workshops to

         21  help your staff understand their roles.

         22                 In addition, there is a financial

         23  issue. However, this is an issue that can and must

         24  be overcome. Money must not be a barrier to save

         25  lives. You cannot put a price tag on the life of a
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          2  child. That said, we are also offering you monetary

          3  assistance in helping implement this program in New

          4  York City.

          5                 This offer was initially made to the

          6  school Chancellor on January 13th through Mr. Bob

          7  Lift on behalf of my son's foundation. We offered

          8  $25,000 to purchase 12 or 13 AEDs to help get

          9  somewhat of a program. I know it's not much, but

         10  it's a start, and you have to start somewhere.

         11                 We have blessed with this life-saving

         12  technology. We know now without a doubt that had an

         13  AED been immediately available to Louis on March

         14  25th, he would be alive today.

         15                 We believe that some day AEDs will be

         16  as common as fire extinguishers. Why can't that day

         17  be today?

         18                 Let us not have any more senseless

         19  tragedies. Let's put AEDs in our schools and other

         20  public venues where they can and will save lives.

         21                 Each of you has the power to make a

         22  change and there should be nothing standing in your

         23  way. Together we can and we will make this happen.

         24  Lives are at stake.

         25                 Saving the life of one child, one
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          2  teacher, one parent, has the ripple effect on those

          3  lives they have touched. Each day they give a gift,

          4  the gift of love, of hope, and of the potential for

          5  their future. Yet, the loss of one child, one

          6  teacher or one parent will continue to have a

          7  devastating affect on those lives they have touched.

          8  Those they have left behind. We choose to focus on

          9  saving lives and so, too, must you.

         10                 And I must say, this morning our

         11  foundation website, just came over, just as I was

         12  leaving to come here, Kansas City, a high school

         13  referee at a basketball game goes into cardiac

         14  arrest, saved by an AED. "I thank God we had the

         15  defibrillator. The parents donated it," the Dean of

         16  students said.

         17                 February 3rd, 2003, Alabama. A

         18  15-year-old female playing basketball in school

         19  saved by a defibrillator.

         20                 Birmingham, Alabama, February 5th,

         21  2003, a 13-year-old male participating in gym class

         22  saved with an AED.

         23                 They work. They save lives. Thank

         24  you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Next witness,
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          2  please.

          3                 MS. MOYER: Well, I am going to

          4  digress a little bit from what I had written.

          5                 My husband and I have three children,

          6  our --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: First please

          8  identify yourself for the record.

          9                 MS. MOYER: I'm sorry. I'm Rachel

         10  Moyer. My husband and I have lived in New York for

         11  ten years and we now live in Pennsylvania. I have

         12  taught in New York now, I am teaching in New York

         13  for 20 years.

         14                 On December 2nd, 2000, our

         15  15-year-old son was playing basketball. He had never

         16  been sick a day in his life. He was six foot three,

         17  220 pounds, but he was still my baby, and we had the

         18  fortune, good fortune to actually having been

         19  videotaped at a game at a $70 million school where

         20  one of the things they cut in the budget were

         21  defibrillators.

         22                 Gregory walked off the court after

         23  taking a ball, at the end of the first half after

         24  taking a ball away from the senior and top player of

         25  the other side, and you could watch his face and he
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          2  was trying so hard to be cool, and I knew that he

          3  was just elated. Unfortunately, that elation I think

          4  caused his heart to go into ventricular

          5  fibrillation, where the heart goes like a bowl of

          6  jelly when it's being shook.

          7                 We were called into the locker room.

          8  There was a doctor there, he was an oncologist. He

          9  didn't know what to do. There were two nurses there,

         10  one was an ICU nurse who didn't know what to do

         11  because she's used to million dollars worth of

         12  equipment, there was an athletic director that kept

         13  on telling us, don't worry, I've had CPR, I know

         14  what to do. And I went down, Gregory was on the

         15  floor, I grabbed his head and I said, "Gregory,

         16  you're not breathing. Why aren't you breathing?" I

         17  said, "Breathe for me." And I saw him try to take

         18  that breath, and his eyes closed and that was it.

         19  And it took 35 minutes for the ambulance to arrive,

         20  it took -- after 35 minutes we had a heartbeat and

         21  we transported him 40 minutes to the closest

         22  hospital. Gregory was not able to sustain that

         23  heartbeat.

         24                 When we were in the emergency room

         25  the nurse came up to me and said, there should have
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          2  been a defibrillator there, and my husband and I are

          3  thinking defibrillators are what we see on ER, that

          4  we didn't know what they were. Now you can ask us,

          5  and I can tell you I actually should have kept a

          6  list of all the inaccuracies that were presented

          7  today by people who are in charge of your system.

          8  I'm embarrassed. I can't believe -- first off,

          9  they're not automatic external defibrillators.

         10  They're automated. Some of them can be automatic,

         11  some of them can be semi-automatic. This is just a

         12  small point of the fact that since July 23rd I have

         13  called the Mayor's Office. I have gotten to the

         14  point where the secretary recognizes my voice and

         15  calls me the defibrillator lady. I have written to

         16  the 51 Council members after I spoke to Dr. Marks,

         17  and I was basically told that we don't know if the

         18  defibrillators would have saved these kids that

         19  died, and I said we don't know that we wouldn't

         20  have.

         21                 So, my point being is, my husband and

         22  I, the two of us have trained over 2,000 people in

         23  the last year and a half. When they say that they

         24  can train 800 in a year or whatever. We also said to

         25  them we've been able to negotiate better deals as
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          2  far as buying defibrillators. In Pennsylvania where

          3  they passed a law, in the shortest amount of time in

          4  the history of Pennsylvania Legislature, we bought,

          5  we were able to buy a Medtronic defibrillator for

          6  1,445. Pad for defibrillators are $28, a battery

          7  cost around 200, 250 dollars. You want information,

          8  it seems to me the people that are operating your

          9  Department of Health and your Department of

         10  Education should have these statistics.

         11                 In a school district of Port Jervis,

         12  we were told initially that we were afraid of

         13  liability, so we were not allowed to have them, and

         14  I said to our solicitor you think you're worried

         15  about a lawsuit for having a defibrillator and

         16  someone using it and not working, wait until a

         17  parent doesn't have one when they know that one

         18  would have been donated for free.

         19                 It took us 15 months, but during that

         20  15 months we didn't waste the time. We trained over

         21  200 of our staff people, volunteers, they were from

         22  the maintenance people to the teachers to the

         23  administrators to the Board of Education. We didn't

         24  wait for the machines to come in before we started

         25  the training process. And you know what it cost?
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          2  Nothing.

          3                 What our goal was, there were so many

          4  of us that are trainers, we decided in other

          5  districts to go out, get trainers to train the

          6  personnel, so if each school district within New

          7  York City took two or three people and trained them,

          8  and I could actually have Dr. Shi (phonetic) from

          9  East Stroudsburg University who volunteered his time

         10  to come over to New York City and train the trainers

         11  so they in turn could go back, we're required by law

         12  to go to superintendents days, we wouldn't have to

         13  pay teachers to come in in extra time, we can make

         14  it volunteer, but if you take a small district like

         15  Port Jervis, and we had over 200 people that

         16  trained, and each month we offer training, and the

         17  course takes four hours. The training card usually

         18  takes about $3. So, I'm flabbergasted. We've spent

         19  hours and hours on the web, we've set up a web,

         20  we've decided that it really is, in Philadelphia

         21  when I drove there this summer, I thought well they

         22  have 280 schools, how many defibrillators? I found

         23  out they had 18. So, I got a hold of a friend of

         24  mine, I said let's go after the lawyers. No offense

         25  to the Councilmen here, and I said see if they'll
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          2  donate. We went to the trial lawyers. They're

          3  donating a defibrillator for every single high

          4  school in Philadelphia, I wanted to do that here. I

          5  mean there's so many resources we have within New

          6  York City, and I was offering our time, needless to

          7  say, without even my husband knowing it, saying

          8  we'll come over, we'll do training, let's start on

          9  Staten Island. We'll go from high school to high

         10  school for as long as it takes with these machines,

         11  and I don't know where those statistics came from.

         12  We are very, very primitive in our knowledge of how

         13  many people actually die from sudden cardiac arrest.

         14  And the Heart Association is guessing at 6,000 to

         15  7,000 children. They're guessing that it's 350,000

         16  to 450,000 people all together.

         17                 Airplanes are now required, your

         18  chances of being in an airplane and needing a

         19  defibrillator is one chance in 5 million. Your

         20  chance of needing a defibrillator in a high school

         21  is seven out of 6 million.

         22                 So, the statistics are on our side.

         23  We're here to help. We're here to do whatever we

         24  can. But my first thing would be to suggest that you

         25  have the members of the Education and the Health
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          2  Committee trained so that they can look at this

          3  defibrillator, know that I'm a teacher of fifth and

          4  sixth graders and my children are trained to use CRP

          5  and AEDs and they are qualified to rescue anyone

          6  here, and one thing I've taught, and I said if an

          7  adult thinks they know what they're doing and they

          8  don't, just move them out of the way because I can

          9  trust you to save the person that went down.

         10                 So, I am just asking for your

         11  support. It's inexcusable that if ten people had

         12  been trained between May 7th of last year and now, I

         13  could have some forgiveness in my heart for what has

         14  happened in the City.

         15                 I have two girls who go to school in

         16  the Bronx and Fordham. And believe me, Fordham

         17  University does have AEDs. I checked on that before

         18  they went.

         19                 MR. MOYER: And both of our daughters

         20  are trained.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Sir, you just need

         22  to -- I'm sorry, just identify yourself.

         23                 MR. MOYER: I'm the other half of the

         24  Rachel and John. I'm John Moyer.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.
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          2                 MR. MOYER: I'm the one that will be

          3  going to Nova Scotia to put on a four-hour AED

          4  course if it were up to my wife.

          5                 This has very much become our life

          6  goal to move this ball forward. The only thing that

          7  I've heard today from a number of people that I

          8  agree with is the machine is not enough. Certainly

          9  the machine is a critical part of it, but it isn't

         10  enough. There are six different manufacturers of

         11  AEDs, Phillips is one of them, Phillips is the one

         12  that the City seems to be leaning toward; however,

         13  Councilman Oddo has one on his left side that is a

         14  cardiac science device. I'm sitting here with one in

         15  front of me that is a Medtronic physio-control

         16  device, and low and behold the Medtronic device has

         17  pediatric pads that are available that allow it to

         18  be used with children under the age of eight or

         19  under 55 pounds. The same thing is true of cardiac

         20  science, and the other three AED manufacturers very

         21  shortly will have that.

         22                 It boggles my mind, and I'm from

         23  Pennsylvania, remember that's not the other side of

         24  the world, it's the other side of the Delaware. But

         25  it boggles my mind that I'm the business side behind
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          2  our group. I write the checks to pay for the AED. I

          3  have never purchased an AED that we have donated to

          4  a school, and we've now passed 50, that I've paid

          5  more than $2,100 for. It comes with two sets of

          6  electrodes. The battery, the case, an Ambu kit that

          7  has razors, scissors, gloves, mask and everything

          8  else. And, Councilman, you asked what the

          9  maintenance cost is, these things are so simple it

         10  turns itself on every morning at 3:00, if it detects

         11  that the battery is weak, if it detects a short in

         12  the circuitry, a symbol comes up and it begins

         13  making sounds, replace my battery. It does that for

         14  a lengthy period of time.

         15                 The battery is good for four and a

         16  half to five years. The pads are good for two years

         17  unless they're used and every one we donate we say

         18  we hope you never pull this off the wall to use it.

         19  If you have to replace the pads, they're about $30.

         20  Other than that, and I can see that there's a heck

         21  of an administrative overhead that gets involved in

         22  this, yes, it should be somebody's responsibility to

         23  go around periodically and say I looked at AED

         24  number one, two, three, four, the symbol is okay on

         25  it, the pads are hooked up, the battery hasn't
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          2  expired and there's no fraying of the wires.

          3                 I've heard a number of things today,

          4  and excuse me for being somewhat sporadic, but you

          5  try to get a handle for how many kids this happens

          6  to. Our son suffered from hypertrophic

          7  cardiomyopathy, which is a thickening of the walls

          8  of the heart that leads to ventricular fibrillation.

          9  That condition occurs in some form in about one in

         10  500 kids. Now, if you divide the number of kids in

         11  the New York City system by 500 it gives you a rough

         12  index of how many probably have that condition and

         13  may not know it.

         14                 Commotio cordis, Lou Acompora's

         15  problem, there wasn't any physical abnormality

         16  whatsoever. The heart was struck at a time and the

         17  beating of it that sent the heart into cardiac

         18  arrest. You get into long QT, you get into some of

         19  the other syndromes and names and physiological

         20  disorders that people don't even know they have and

         21  the numbers only rise from there, and that's before

         22  getting into the cost of the loss of the life of a

         23  loved one. I mean, face it, somebody 55 or 60 years

         24  of age such as myself that has not treated his body

         25  well over the years who passes away, certainly
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          2  there's some grief and some loss in society. But

          3  it's not the same as losing a 14-, or a 15- or a

          4  16-year-old boy or girl. Somehow that has a greater

          5  value if only in the lesson that it provides

          6  society.

          7                 We walked in here today, you know,

          8  thank you for the invitation, I didn't know it was

          9  going to be quite this lengthy, but we walked in

         10  today and asked the question of where are the AEDs,

         11  and the security fellow out front said what? The

         12  defibrillator. What are you talking about. Well, the

         13  thing that if you had a heart condition or sudden

         14  cardiac arrest might save you. Oh, we don't have any

         15  of those, but we're supposed to get them soon.

         16                 Now I hear that there's one

         17  downstairs. I personally know Congressman -- that's

         18  next year, Congressman -- Councilman Oddo has one in

         19  his office, but with the ones that we give out, we

         20  also donate something simple. I mean it's a symbol

         21  that we made up. Of course it's got Greg Moyer name

         22  on the bottom of it, but all in there is a place to

         23  write down. You know, the nearest location is in the

         24  vestibule behind the steps to the left of the door.

         25  I mean, simple. We know, because we started Greg's
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          2  fund with the thought that if we could get enough

          3  AEDs to donate to the seven high schools in our

          4  county, we'd be doing well. We've now placed over

          5  150, and the fund isn't close to being finished.

          6  However, the number of requests that are coming in

          7  for could you give us one, could you give us one, is

          8  exceeding our ability to raise money. So, we have

          9  gotten to the point of understanding that the one

         10  thing that's missing in everything I've heard today

         11  is public education, public awareness. I mean, there

         12  are people that are sitting here today that are much

         13  more aware than they were when they walked in of how

         14  important these things are. But once you get the

         15  parents of the school kids behind this issue, once

         16  you get something out there showing them how

         17  critical it is for these to be present, how easy

         18  they are to use, and, you know, again, excuse me for

         19  digressing. These things are so easy, anybody that

         20  is married, it's a lock because as soon as you turn

         21  it on it begins telling you what to do. If you've

         22  been married for even a couple of years, you learn

         23  to either listen to it or not listen to it as the

         24  case may be, but there isn't, it won't allow a shock

         25  if a shock isn't required. It will tell you when it
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          2  needs to be burped or had its diaper changed, its

          3  battery changed. It is essentially a fail-safe

          4  device, but you need or we need to get the word out

          5  there to people that they aren't expensive, they

          6  aren't difficult to operate, and they ought to be in

          7  the schools where our children are getting their

          8  education.

          9                 We've taken, and I'm about finished

         10  here, but we've taken the website, of course, which

         11  I'd encourage anybody to visit to get some

         12  information, we've also scheduled public service

         13  announcements on the radio, and most recently we've

         14  started a, and I'm sorry that this isn't bigger, but

         15  a billboard campaign. And we've got two of them. It

         16  has a picture of Greg on it and it says "The Beat

         17  Goes On. AEDs In School Save Lives," and then it

         18  gives his website address.

         19                 The one we have for New York,

         20  although I don't know that it's well known in the

         21  City is, "Let The Beat Go On, It's The Law." And

         22  these things put up with people driving past and it

         23  doesn't take long to make the connection between

         24  here's a young man, and we don't care whether it's

         25  Lou Acompora or any one of the three young people

                                                            185

          1  EDUCATION AND HEALTH

          2  that died recently, make it community oriented,

          3  bring it home to the community, but get the word out

          4  there, because in the thousands of people that we've

          5  talked to, once they understand, once they find out

          6  that these things cost no more than a couple

          7  thousand bucks, amazingly the money is found and it

          8  doesn't necessarily have to come out of tax dollars.

          9  The training occurs, and believe me, the suggestions

         10  of using EMTs and firefighters and health teachers

         11  in the school and implementing it into the secondary

         12  curriculum, those are all super ideas, and suddenly

         13  the bureaucracy, which I've heard an awful lot of

         14  today, is somehow circumvented or overcome, and

         15  we've got one more school where our children are

         16  being protected. So, public education, public

         17  education, public education, the rest of it falls

         18  into place.

         19                 Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         21                 Council Member Oddo.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Madam

         23  Chair. I just would like to thank you folks for

         24  coming down today and for countering that

         25  bureaucracy and that bureaucratic mumbo jumbo that
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          2  we had two to three hours of.

          3                 Just to address some of the points

          4  that Mr. Moyer said, I want to just make sure the

          5  record is clear that the pediatric AED is designed

          6  for children under eight or children lighter than 55

          7  pounds. And I want all of us to think about that,

          8  when we think that the number one reason I think

          9  given privately and now publicly by the Department

         10  of Education for the delay was that they only had

         11  one vendor of that one particular type of product

         12  and I just wonder if that really was a justified

         13  wait.

         14                 The other thing I want to point out

         15  for the record is, it was Divine intervention that

         16  allowed me as a freshman in high school to pass the

         17  biology regents. I couldn't pick out a part of the

         18  body if you gave me a microscope, and recently Kevin

         19  Fullington, who is my counsel, Rob Callandra, myself

         20  and one of the Sergeant-At-Arms were trained, that's

         21  why we're able to have the defibrillator. The

         22  gentleman who trained us is sitting in the second

         23  row. So, if I can be trained in just a few hours,

         24  anyone can be trained.

         25                 And last but not least, again, I just
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          2  want to say thank you. I met Karen Acompora back in

          3  April of '01 when she traveled from Long Island to

          4  Staten Island, along with Dr. Stapleton, to explain

          5  to us what they did in the school district, and

          6  without sounding too patronizing to you folks, I

          7  just want to thank you for, you know, taking an

          8  incredible personal tragedy and turning it into

          9  something that's, turning it into something that's

         10  saving other kids' lives, and I truly appreciate you

         11  coming down here today. Thank you.

         12                 MR. ACOMPORA: Just one thing I might

         13  add. I realize New York City is a lot more

         14  difficult, but I must tell you, every school

         15  district on Long Island, Nassau and Suffolk, has

         16  complied with the State law, whereas, I don't think

         17  we have one in New York City.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

         19  Jackson.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

         21                 You know, they say that you save the

         22  best for last, and one thing that I know as a

         23  Council Member, and I tried to, as a member of the

         24  Education Committee, I try to stay from the

         25  beginning to the end, because you hear the
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          2  Administration in the beginning, and sometimes it

          3  takes an hour, two hours, three hours, and as you

          4  can see here, most Council members are not here. You

          5  have Jim Oddo, you have the Chair of the Health

          6  Committee, Christine Quinn, you have Dr. Kendall

          7  Stewart and myself, and I mean, Eva, she has a baby,

          8  she may still be here, but --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: She's attending to

         10  the baby.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes, so you

         12  only talk to a couple of people at the end, but I

         13  tell you, in listening to the bureaucratic red tape,

         14  and I really want to say bull shit that I heard

         15  earlier, and then listening to you as individuals

         16  who have lost your children, and I three three

         17  girls, 27, and she will be a doctor in May, 22 and

         18  16, and as a parent I can feel your pain and your

         19  mission concerning your own children. So, I

         20  appreciate you coming the distance that you came to

         21  communicate with us how important the subject is,

         22  and just being here today you and the others that

         23  testified have educated me as to how important this

         24  subject is, and, so, I wanted to say I really

         25  appreciate that.
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          2                 I would also, clearly you indicated

          3  the training, and I wrote down here on my document,

          4  which was not mentioned earlier, turnkey, because

          5  normally what happens, that you train trainers and

          6  those trainers go out and train the majority of the

          7  people that are out there. And I guess my question

          8  was, you know, is it this law in New York State, and

          9  I don't know if you may know or may not know that

         10  you have to be "certified," or that you must take a

         11  course. And, if, for example, if we can train the

         12  trainers and the trainers could then say that Robert

         13  Jackson has fulfilled a requirements of the training

         14  to implement an ACD, the four-hour training course,

         15  if that's all it takes, as you indicated, it may not

         16  take $75 per person. You may have, as you said, all

         17  of you, you do this on a voluntary basis because

         18  you're committed because you've lost a loved one and

         19  you want to make sure that no one else loses their

         20  life. And, so, you know, somehow we have to be able

         21  to cut through all of this nonsense and make it

         22  happen in New York City.

         23                 MR. ACOMPORA: Absolutely. And you

         24  will see, like the Suffolk County cardiac care

         25  nurses contacted my wife and said, Karen, we want to
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          2  train as many schools that want to be trained for

          3  free. They came to us. We supplied them with the

          4  training manual through the foundation, and they do

          5  it gladly, they do it lovingly.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You know, you

          7  were here when I asked the question whether or not

          8  they have talked to FDNY about an agreement and they

          9  said that they did, and then I asked them a question

         10  whether or not they discussed whether or not an

         11  agreement for them to do the training or just to

         12  have a discussion with them about how their program

         13  is working.

         14                 And clearly, I got the impression

         15  that they didn't really talk to them about whether

         16  or not they can do the training, but how their

         17  program is working and so forth. Did you get that

         18  impression also?

         19                 MR. MOYER: Councilman Jackson, I

         20  couldn't understand the answer either. But I did

         21  hear the last woman who spoke talk about the study

         22  at O'Hare or the surrounding airports. I'm not sure

         23  what the point was that she was making, but it's

         24  true that there were 21 witnessed cardiac arrests.

         25  An AED was used in 18 of those 21 instances. If you

                                                            191

          1  EDUCATION AND HEALTH

          2  would have believe the statistics that we were

          3  given, we should have had survival rates of five or

          4  six.

          5                 There were 11 of the 18 that survived

          6  cardiac arrest by rapid use of defibrillation, and I

          7  don't believe that she gave you the answer that they

          8  had done a great deal of discussion. Rachel and I

          9  are trainers through the American Heart Association.

         10  She'll hold over my head that she also holds

         11  certification from the Red Cross, but that's the one

         12  upsmanship games that we play that get us through

         13  the day. But we have an obligation to work with

         14  people through four hours to certify that they're

         15  able to perform the skills and then that training is

         16  good for two years.

         17                 There are, the National Safety

         18  Council is another training program, essentially all

         19  of them do the same kinds of things. But what we are

         20  suggesting is that you've got trainers of trainers

         21  in the population, and certainly not to use them

         22  would be ludicrous.

         23                 MS. MOYER: I would just like to say

         24  that probably in most of your schools you have some

         25  paramedics or EMS people right there. Many of them
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          2  are trained.

          3                 And just to give you an idea about

          4  the training, especially since there are pediatric

          5  pads which was very unique that the American Heart

          6  Association and the Red Cross does not actually have

          7  a program yet for that, but John and I were trained

          8  to use this, and then we had to take another

          9  six-hour course to do it and then we had two days of

         10  training.

         11                 So, the total cost to us was $150.

         12  But if you take that $150 per person, and, you know,

         13  just take two or three, four, five people, you know,

         14  and the volunteers will come because no teacher

         15  wants to see your child collapse like recently

         16  happened in Carlisle, Pennsylvania where there was

         17  an AED in the high school and not one in the middle

         18  school and a kid was playing in gym class, came to

         19  English class and collapsed and they just couldn't

         20  get the defibrillator on him in time.

         21                 So, you know, no one wants to lose

         22  something like that.  So, it's possible it can be

         23  done, and I hope I never meet the person that has

         24  been putting me off for the last eight months at the

         25  Mayor's Office saying that, you know, we'll let you
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          2  know, we'll let you know, because we were offering,

          3  like the Acompora's, you know, one school buy one,

          4  we'll get one for you. We've had pennies from the

          5  heart, we've had all kinds of fundraisers, we went

          6  to the rotary, we went to everybody to get money.

          7  So, if money is a problem we're saying let us help

          8  you, and I was completely blown away until I had the

          9  opportunity to meet Senator Bruno, because New York

         10  State United Teachers, there are 500,000 members,

         11  were very instrumental in passing this. Also having

         12  to do with the Vice President having a heart attack

         13  that I think that had coincided with this.

         14                 So, I'm saying, they're behind us and

         15  I taught the UFT and they were saying, well, we have

         16  to deal with the union, and the union said go for

         17  it. So there we are.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: My last

         19  comment is that now that I've been sort of educated

         20  as to how important this is, that I'm committed to

         21  make sure that -- I have one high school in my

         22  district which is A. Phillip Randolf, and, so, I

         23  will be talking to them specifically and hopefully

         24  they will not be blocked by the Department of

         25  Education, if they don't have one, to have one, and,
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          2  clearly, if Jim Oddo can learn the training, so can

          3  I.

          4                 MR. ACOMPORA: Thank you.

          5                 Another point I didn't understand is

          6  over 250,000 Americans die of cardiac arrest every

          7  year. Where are they having these heart attacks

          8  according to those statistics? They're dying

          9  somewhere.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I was the

         11  Director of a labor union, and I and some of my

         12  staff, the union paid for us to receive training for

         13  CPR, so I did that. So I believe in the help

         14  yourself.

         15                 MR. ACOMPORA: Exactly.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And, so, I

         17  will be taking this training, and hopefully we will

         18  put up that sign that there's an ACD in the members'

         19  lounge.

         20                 MR. ACOMPORA: Thank you.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Besides the

         22  Minority Leader's Office.

         23                 MR. ACOMPORA: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you all

         25  again for your patience and for all of your hard
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          2  work. Thank you very much.

          3                 Oh, I'm sorry, Council Member Stewart

          4  has a question and then we'll hear from our final

          5  panelists.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you.

          7                 I just wanted to say that from the

          8  testimony that I've been hearing, I feel if we

          9  really want to accomplish this goal, we will try.

         10  Because I felt that the Administration was not

         11  trying. We will do the study, if there is a problem

         12  with any of these. We will look at the other

         13  systems, the other places that it's in place, and

         14  what it's doing. We will look at other incidents and

         15  we will check the costs this afternoon. I didn't

         16  feel that we had a handle on any of that.

         17                 And if it means taking it in stages,

         18  for example, first by maybe retrofitting the

         19  schools, and then you move on to maybe the police

         20  cars, or maybe some specific public building, we can

         21  do that. But I don't get the feeling that we really

         22  want to do anything, so nothing was done.

         23                 So, there's no clearcut answer as to

         24  what the cost is going to be, how long it's going to

         25  take, what is the results, you know that's the
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          2  feeling I get. And if in other areas we are doing

          3  it, and if the state is mandated or pass legislation

          4  to do this, and did not put any funding to deal with

          5  it, it mean that they didn't, to me they're not

          6  giving the clearcut understanding that it ought to

          7  be done. Because to me this is something that is

          8  necessary, but if we don't want to do it, these

          9  things are not going to be done unless we do it that

         10  way.

         11                 MS. MOYER: As a teacher, I say to

         12  school superintendents and whatnot, I said don't

         13  order a computer this year, don't order New Jerseys

         14  for your football team, don't order a new set of

         15  dictionaries and you have enough money to buy one.

         16                 Senator Bonisek was one of the first

         17  senators that donated a defibrillator, $3,000 to

         18  each one of his 36 schools that he had in his

         19  district. So they have their bullet money that a lot

         20  of the legislators went ahead and donated some of

         21  that bullet money.

         22                 But this is the kind of thing that,

         23  this doesn't discriminate in any way. This is for

         24  everyone. You know, old, young, lawyers that have

         25  hearts, and I mean it is. It's community minded, and
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          2  this is a chance for us to all work together. So,

          3  that's what I've been trying to say to the Mayor's

          4  Office, you might not have the money. Let us help

          5  you, let us go to the Rotary, let us go to the

          6  Tabernackle, let's do something, and we will help

          7  you get the funds. Let's not look at where's the

          8  money coming from, let's just find it. And my

          9  biggest thing, and I will tell you that having lost

         10  a child, there is nothing worse, and I don't sleep

         11  as it is, but when those three children died within

         12  those six days, I have never, ever thought that I

         13  could feel as badly as I did as the day that my son

         14  died, but I thought Rachel you didn't do enough,

         15  because you didn't talk that school in the City of

         16  New York into at least starting something, because

         17  we don't know if it would have made a difference.

         18  But if there had been a defibrillator there, then we

         19  could have said we tried everything and it was their

         20  time.

         21                 So, all I'm saying is we're here and

         22  we're volunteering for each one of your districts.

         23  If you need us we'll be there to train and help you

         24  find the funds.

         25                 MR. ACOMPORA: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you all very

          3  much.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 Our final panel is going to be

          6  Whittney Smith; Ed Stapleton; Robert Rosenwald and

          7  Lynne Richardson. I think we need a fourth chair

          8  brought over there, please.

          9                 You can begin in whatever order you

         10  want, so while we're getting situated, if one of you

         11  all wants to start, that would be great.

         12                 DR. RICHARDSON: Does this mean that I

         13  go first?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Sure.

         15                 DR. RICHARDSON: Nobody wants to

         16  follow the very eloquent parents we just heard from.

         17                 All right, I'll take a stab at this.

         18  My name is Lynne Richardson, Dr. Lynne Richardson,

         19  I'm an emergency physician and health services

         20  researcher.

         21                 My current paid employment is that

         22  I'm Vice Chair of Emergency Medicine at Mount Sinai

         23  School of Medicine here in Manhattan. And I am the

         24  principal investigator for the New York City site of

         25  the National Heart Lung and Blood Institute-funded
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          2  Public Access Defibrillation Trial that Dr. Bassett

          3  referred to. And, so, I'm pleased to be able to

          4  answer perhaps in greater detail some of the

          5  questions that you posed to Dr. Bassett, having had

          6  the experience over the last two and a half years of

          7  being part of a study that has recruited more than

          8  1,000 facilities in 24 cities in the United States

          9  and Canada, and implemented public access

         10  fibrillation programs.

         11                 Now, this is a research study. It's a

         12  randomized controlled trial which means that we are

         13  trying to determine is public access defibrillation

         14  effective. And, so, we have taken all kinds of

         15  units, residential units, office buildings, shopping

         16  malls, airports, train stations, all of the kinds of

         17  places that have been discussed. We have recruited

         18  them to be randomly assigned to get either CPR

         19  training only, or CPR training plus AEDs. And we

         20  have trained shopping clerks, secretaries, security

         21  guards, tenants in residential areas, all kinds of

         22  individuals to see if putting defibrillators out in

         23  public places and teaching lay people to use them

         24  makes a difference.

         25                 This has been a huge undertaking, as
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          2  you might imagine, even in places that where cardiac

          3  arrests are frequent, it's a relatively infrequent

          4  occurrence and so it's taken a long time to recruit

          5  enough places and have enough events to be able to

          6  tell do defibrillators make a difference.

          7                 And, so, one of the administrative

          8  speakers was, the comment from one of the Council

          9  members was that, I think perhaps it was you,

         10  Council Member Oddo, that you can't believe that

         11  they didn't give cost effectiveness information for

         12  defibrillators, and the fact is no one can give you

         13  cost effectiveness data for defibrillators. Those

         14  data do not exist. But we are very close to having

         15  some data that will actually tell you, this is what

         16  PAD programs can do.

         17                 Now, although we don't have the

         18  outcome data and I don't have access to it because

         19  you know it is pooled and blinded and so on. I can

         20  share with you some of the things I've learned

         21  implementing PAD programs in about 57 buildings

         22  throughout New York City over the last few years,

         23  and I have to tell you that I know I have an uphill

         24  battle here so I want to say a few things.

         25                 First of all, I believe in saving

                                                            201

          1  EDUCATION AND HEALTH

          2  lives. I'm an emergency physician. In fact, saving

          3  lives is what I do. I believe that defibrillators

          4  save lives. They are in fact amazing technology.

          5  What I can tell you as a physician, as a scientist,

          6  as a parent with two children in New York City

          7  schools, is if you spend $44 million or $37 million

          8  or whatever amount of money it's going to cost to

          9  implement defibrillators in the schools, if you

         10  spend that much money, exactly how many lives will

         11  you save?

         12                 What I can tell you is two things: If

         13  you're prepared to spend $40 million on

         14  defibrillators, no one can tell you exactly how many

         15  lives you will save, but how many you save will

         16  depend on where you put them, and I think we have

         17  the data, we have the data from New York City, and

         18  I'm sorry that Council Member Clarke is not still

         19  here. Dr. Bassett presented some projections based

         20  on Seattle data about where cardiac arrests occur

         21  and how frequently then you could expect cardiac

         22  arrest to occur in specific locations.

         23                 There was in fact a study done in the

         24  early '90s in New York City called the "Phase

         25  Study," that looked at all cardiac arrests that
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          2  happened in New York City for a six-month period,

          3  and very similar kinds of projections could be made

          4  on New York City data right here in terms of the

          5  frequency of these events.

          6                 And what I think perhaps the Council

          7  members didn't fasten in the data that was presented

          8  is that there were some places where you can expect

          9  there to be multiple arrests each year, five, six,

         10  seven, ten, and there are other places where you are

         11  going to have an arrest every hundred years. If

         12  you're going to spend money on defibrillators, let's

         13  put them in the place where you are most likely to

         14  save lives with them, and I believe that this is the

         15  message that I would like to convey to you. You all

         16  have a lot of responsibilities, I think that there

         17  is information that is available from the scientific

         18  literature that can guide your decisions in making

         19  informed public policy about where to put

         20  defibrillators.

         21                 I have to go there, and I know this

         22  is going to be tough sledding, but if you go by the

         23  numbers and you look at where cardiac arrests occur,

         24  schools would not be high on my list of where to put

         25  defibrillators.
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          2                 Now, I understand that the State

          3  Legislature in its wisdom has passed a law, and that

          4  New York City agencies have to comply with that, but

          5  I have to tell you, having spent the last two years

          6  implementing PAD programs, that I did not find the

          7  remarks of the Deputy Chancellor at all disingenuous

          8  regarding the difficulty with implementing a program

          9  of the scale that's being required of the Department

         10  of Education. In fact, I think his estimate that

         11  they would be through this within, by the early

         12  beginning of the next school period, quite, perhaps

         13  almost unrealistically optimistic.

         14                 I was also struck by the testimony of

         15  the Deputy Commissioner for OEM, Ed Gabriel, about

         16  the experience that we have had with the 126

         17  defibrillators that were placed in New York City as

         18  part of what's been referred to as the Giuliani

         19  Initiative.

         20                 And it's very interesting that I have

         21  quite a similar number of defibrillators that I have

         22  placed as part of the PAD program in New York City,

         23  and trained actually a similar number of volunteers,

         24  about 7 or 800 volunteers that we have trained, and

         25  they have had no uses of their defibrillators.
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          2                 We have had multiple uses of our

          3  defibrillators with some sites that have had more

          4  than one cardiac arrest during the 18-month period.

          5  And I have to tell you what the difference is. The

          6  difference is that we selected the PAD sites based

          7  on the expected rate of cardiac arrest at those

          8  sites. We looked for places that had a large

          9  percentage of individuals over age 50 who were at

         10  high risk. We looked for places that had a high

         11  volume of individuals of all ages.

         12                 I have to tell you that I believe in

         13  large part the AEDs that were placed by the City as

         14  part of their initiative were driven by political

         15  concern, not by science, and so you had

         16  defibrillators that may have been put in places that

         17  are not the most effective use of them.

         18                 So, my message is not to say that you

         19  shouldn't spend money on defibrillators. I'd be

         20  prepared to have a conversation of a long list of

         21  other things I'd also like to see the City spend

         22  money on that I believe would save lives, and

         23  perhaps more lives than what we're discussing. But

         24  if you do feel that this is something that the City

         25  wants to do, please, please let it be guided by what
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          2  we already know about what are the best places to

          3  put defibrillators so that they will save lives.

          4                 I want to say just a couple of other

          5  things in answer to some of the questions you asked

          6  earlier. I'm very familiar with the State law

          7  regulating defibrillators. In fact, was somewhat

          8  instrumental in getting that law passed so that

          9  public access defibrillation could occur in New York

         10  State.

         11                 There is very ample liability

         12  protection in that law. There is liability

         13  protection for the entity that places the

         14  defibrillator for the volunteer who uses it, for the

         15  medical professional who provides oversight. There

         16  really is nothing in the law that requires revision,

         17  because I know you all are prepared to go to Albany

         18  and tell them to fix it if there are problems with

         19  the law. But fear of liability is very different

         20  from actual liability, and I can tell you as we went

         21  around New York City trying to recruit places to be

         22  in the PAD study, where I'm saying, listen, you're

         23  going to get free training in CPR, you may get also

         24  free training in AEDs and a free AED. I will provide

         25  the medical oversight, we will file all the
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          2  paperwork, all of the regulatory requirements that

          3  you've heard were provided free to participants in

          4  the study. The main reason why places that we

          5  approach refused to participate were fear of

          6  liability and we told them the law, we had a lawyer

          7  working with us who explained that they could get

          8  sued for not having a defibrillator as easily as

          9  they could for having defibrillator, but

         10  nevertheless the fear is real.

         11                 And, so, I agree, when the previous

         12  panel has talked about public education, if you

         13  want, if you need a real volunteer effort in the

         14  schools to implement this program, there's a lot of

         15  work you have to do to talk to people. It's not that

         16  you need to change the law, but it will take time to

         17  give people enough information so they understand

         18  and feel comfortable with what for many of them is a

         19  very foreign undertaking, it takes time, it takes

         20  training, it's not easy to do.

         21                 So, perhaps I'll stop there. I'll be

         22  happy to take any questions from the Committee.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Yes, we're going

         24  to do the whole panel.

         25                 MR. SMITH: I'll be quick. My name is
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          2  Whittney Smith, and I'm an athletic trainer on Long

          3  Island at Locust Valley Central School District.

          4  I've been there for about six years. And I was just

          5  as skeptical as many of the administration members

          6  that spoke earlier about an AED program. I had an

          7  athletic director who embraced this program, he was

          8  an intern and I worked along side with him to get

          9  this program implemented along with our central

         10  administration who was very supportive of the

         11  program. We currently have about 13 AEDs in a school

         12  district. It's on the north shore of Long Island,

         13  and it's a relatively small district.

         14                 The defibrillators were placed in

         15  each of the school buildings, along with Central

         16  Administration and myself, as the athletic trainer,

         17  I carry one with me.

         18                 Again, I will reiterate that I was

         19  just as skeptical, but I'm going to read my story

         20  and it's a short story, and I am no longer a skeptic

         21  about the value of AEDs.

         22                 Also, additionally to that, I worked

         23  previously in an emergency room and I have the

         24  utmost respect for emergency medicine. My wife is a

         25  nurse, and I was witness to many cardiac arrests
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          2  that came into the emergency room, very few of which

          3  survived. And those of which I did witness survived,

          4  they would go up to the unit, intubated, and would

          5  probably expire about three or four days later.

          6                 So, again, I had never before this

          7  incident experienced myself a successful

          8  resuscitation effort.

          9                 November 16th was a day that I will

         10  never forget. I have been the District Athletic

         11  Trainer at Locust Valley Middle School for the past

         12  six years, and I was looking forward to the playoff

         13  game at Hoffstra, which was the first one that the

         14  team had been in in awhile. As the Star Spangled

         15  Banner played, I was standing on the sideline when I

         16  heard a parent screaming for me from the stands.

         17  When I went over the fence he just yelled at me and

         18  told me to get up there as quick as possible. As I

         19  ran up into the stands I observed two gentleman

         20  performing CPR on a man who was laying on the ground

         21  in the rain. It was at this point where I knew I was

         22  going to need the school's defibrillator.

         23                 I looked down on the sideline and saw

         24  my friend George, who I immediately called for, and

         25  told to retrieve the defibrillator.
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          2                 He threw the bag with the AED in it

          3  up to me and we determined that the gentleman, Mr.

          4  Tierney, needed to be relocated out of the rain. And

          5  he was moved. And I set up the defibrillator while

          6  he was being moved underneath the stands behind out

          7  of the rain.

          8                 As soon as he was relocated, I

          9  applied the pads and hooked them to the unit. The

         10  unit immediately began monitoring the heart and

         11  quickly advised me to shock the patient.

         12                 After one shock Mr. Tierney's pulse

         13  returned for a brief time. Next the machine advised

         14  me that another shock was needed. I shocked Mr.

         15  Tierney a second time, and at this time his pulse

         16  came back and stayed. The other individuals who were

         17  involved in the save stopped CPR and we provided

         18  rescue breathing using a BVM, or Bag Valve Mask.

         19                 As the ambulance arrived, Mr. Tierney

         20  began to regain consciousness and started speaking

         21  to us. It was truly amazing. When Mr. Tierney was

         22  transported to the hospital, I returned to the field

         23  to resume my athletic training duties. It was at

         24  this point when I really absorbed what had happened.

         25  The AED that I have been bringing to football games
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          2  for two years had saved a life. It was an

          3  extraordinary machine and it did exactly what it was

          4  supposed to do. And without it, Mr. Tierney would be

          5  dead right now.

          6                 It's certainly worth its weight in

          7  gold, just ask John Tierney, and I have numerous

          8  times. I have the honor of seeing his smiling face

          9  at this nephew's basketball games and wrestling

         10  matches. There is not a single time that I've seen

         11  him since the incident that I don't get a huge hug

         12  from him and his wife, and that makes it all worth

         13  it.

         14                 Just to be able to have the right

         15  machine at the right time, and to look up into the

         16  stands and know that one more life is saved because

         17  of it puts a tremendous smile on my face.

         18                 I'll never ever, ever underestimate

         19  the worth of automated external defibrillators in

         20  schools. They are an invaluable resource.

         21                 MR. ROSENWALD: Good evening,

         22  Chairwoman Quinn, members of the Education Committee

         23  and Health Committee, other distinguished guests. My

         24  name is Rob Rosenwald, I'm a paramedic. I'm the

         25  Coordinating Manager of the Emergency Care Institute
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          2  at Bellevue Hospital, and I'm a volunteer with the

          3  American Heart Association. I'd like to thank you

          4  for this opportunity to speak on behalf of the

          5  American Heart Association, regarding the issue of

          6  Automated External Defibrillated placement in

          7  schools.

          8                 The American Heart Association is a

          9  not-for-profit voluntary health organization funded

         10  by private contributions. Its mission is to reduce

         11  disability and death from cardiovascular diseases

         12  and stroke.

         13                 It is estimated that 95 percent of

         14  sudden cardiac arrest victims die before reaching

         15  the hospital, about 250 deaths each year.

         16                 Survival is directly linked to the

         17  amount of time between the onset of sudden cardiac

         18  arrest and defibrillation. If no bystander CPR is

         19  provided, a victim's chances of survival are reduced

         20  by seven to ten percent with every minute delay

         21  until defibrillation.

         22                 If survival rates from sudden cardiac

         23  arrests were increased from five percent to 20

         24  percent, about 40,000 more lives could be saved each

         25  year.
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          2                 That's why the American Heart

          3  Association urges the public to be prepared for

          4  cardiac emergencies by knowing the warning signs of

          5  cardiac arrest and heart attack, knowing how to

          6  activate the local emergency response system, in

          7  other words, call 911 and begin CPR.

          8                 In addition, the American Heart

          9  Association urges the widespread use of AEDs by

         10  trained lay rescuers through community AED programs.

         11                 That is why the American Heart

         12  Association supported the New York State law

         13  mandating AED placement in schools.

         14                 Schools often serve as gathering

         15  places for community and often -- for the community,

         16  and often host regional athletic and academic events

         17  and programs.

         18                 During cardiac emergency, every

         19  second counts. Each minute the defibrillation is

         20  delayed, chances of survival decrease by seven to

         21  ten percent. AED programs in schools may most likely

         22  result in lives saved under the following

         23  conditions:

         24                 The school hosts events attended by

         25  large number of adults, such as adult continuing
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          2  education, musical performances, theatrical

          3  performances, sport events and ceremonies.

          4                 Timely EMS response to the school may

          5  be hindered by school size, physical layout and the

          6  location of the school. The AED program at the

          7  school could serve the surrounding community.

          8  Successful public access defibrillation or AED

          9  programs require not only the purchase of an AED,

         10  but also the development of an emergency response

         11  plan that will maximize the likelihood of successful

         12  resuscitation of a victim's cardiac arrest.

         13                 The plan must also be practiced or

         14  drilled with the goal of reducing response time to

         15  defibrillation. The American Heart Association

         16  considers the following elements to be key to the

         17  success of any PAD program.

         18                 The communities have a strong chain

         19  of survival, Early Access, Call 911, Early CPR,

         20  Early Defibrillation, and early advanced care.

         21                 A physician prescribes use of the

         22  AED. The AED program is under the supervision of a

         23  qualified health care provider with expertise in

         24  emergency cardiovascular care. All first responders

         25  designated to use the AED should be trained in CPR.
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          2  A specified organized response plan should be

          3  implemented at each site targeting a collapse to

          4  shock time of five minutes or less.

          5                 All persons who are not trained as

          6  the first responder should taught emergency response

          7  procedures and how to help, meaning calling 911,

          8  retrieve the AED or clear bystanders.

          9                 The AED should be placed in a

         10  central, highly visible and accessible location near

         11  a telephone. Everyone in the facility should know

         12  the location of the AED.

         13                 The AED program should be integrated

         14  with the local EMS system. A procedure should be

         15  established to ensure data retrieval and review

         16  after the use of the AED.

         17                 The AED should be maintained

         18  according to the manufacturer's instruction.

         19                 To date, the American Heart

         20  Association has been actively involved with the City

         21  on Public Access Defibrillation issues. Two years

         22  ago we worked with the Giuliani Administration on a

         23  plan to place AEDs in public places.

         24                 While the project has faced many

         25  challenges, budget crisis, 9/11, the project
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          2  continues.

          3                 In addition, the American Heart

          4  Association and others have met with the Bloomberg

          5  Administration and the New York City Department of

          6  Education in January of 2003, to discuss plans to

          7  equip all New York City schools with AEDs to comply

          8  with the New York State law.

          9                 The American Heart Association's CPR

         10  AED course is recognized by New York State as

         11  meeting the requirement for training under the

         12  Public Access Defibrillation protocols.

         13                 Our training network consists of over

         14  20 training centers over 60 training sites and

         15  several thousand of basic life support instructors.

         16                 Our goal would not only to be to

         17  participate in short-term solution but a long-term

         18  relationship with the Department of Education. The

         19  cost would be determined based on the training

         20  solutions proposed appropriate for the Department of

         21  Education and the City of New York.

         22                 In conclusion, the American Heart

         23  Association supports AED placement wherever large

         24  numbers of people congregate. Schools are important

         25  community centers where people gather for a variety
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          2  of activities, including education, sports and civic

          3  events.

          4                 To that end, having Automated

          5  External Defibrillators in place with personnel

          6  trained in their use ensures prompt response should

          7  anyone suffer a cardiac arrest.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 MR. STAPLETON: My name is Ed

         10  Stapleton. I'm also a paramedic. I have a fairly

         11  unique background in this area. I've actually had my

         12  second cardiac arrest on that floor over there about

         13  26 years ago where I defibrillated a person, and I'm

         14  involved in CPR promotion for many years. In fact,

         15  I've written all of the books for the Heart

         16  Association on defibrillation. I've co-authored, and

         17  including that packet from the Acompora Foundation,

         18  I co-authored that. This has been my passion for

         19  many years.

         20                 First, I would like to congratulate,

         21  and I would very much encourage you to listen to

         22  these Moyer's, because they're very well informed

         23  people, particularly on the logistical

         24  implementation of this.

         25                 I think everything that Dr.
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          2  Richardson has said is absolutely true, and I

          3  actually sit on the National Committee where we have

          4  these debates about cost effectiveness all the time.

          5                 In my own opinion on cost

          6  effectiveness, when talked about from scientific

          7  point of view, it's very myopic, you know, it's bean

          8  counting, and you gotta be very careful about cost

          9  effectiveness and discussion.

         10                 I agree with Dr. Richardson, if

         11  you're going to embark on some large scale Public

         12  Access Defibrillation in public places, you should

         13  do it thoughtfully and select places that have the

         14  greatest yield based on the amount of money that the

         15  City is willing to spend for that.

         16                 That is totally true. The school is

         17  another thing all together.

         18                 I have a totally different

         19  perspective on the school. The school is the center

         20  of the community, and kids who grow up in a system

         21  where they're learning the chain of survival, they

         22  see defibrillators on the wall, yet if you ask me a

         23  raw question, is the probability of cardiac arrest

         24  in a school low, I would say absolutely. The

         25  statistics presented in Seattle will probably be
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          2  supported by the National Public Defibrillation

          3  Trial, by which I'm also a coordinator of another

          4  site on Long Island for that trial, so there is

          5  connection there as well.

          6                 So, when you get into that whole

          7  debate in a school, you're really down the wrong

          8  road, because there's a real opportunity here in the

          9  school to get kids trained and their mindset framed

         10  how to save lives and to help others. There's so

         11  many benefits and extra wonderful things that come

         12  out of it that if you purely look at it from a

         13  numeric life saved, it will lose, I guarantee you,

         14  but you cannot go about it that way.

         15                 And I think the Moyers said it better

         16  than I could ever say it in that regard.

         17                 The other thing, I'm digressing from

         18  my paper which you have to summarize my comments, is

         19  that doing this is not the logistical nightmare that

         20  was expressed, there are creative ways of doing

         21  this. I implemented a CPR program in New York City's

         22  school system 22 years ago where we did a train the

         23  trainer approach, which was described very nicely

         24  where you can take teachers from each school to

         25  serve as trainers in their respective schools, and
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          2  get this done in a cost effective way. There are

          3  ways of doing that. And I had sympathy, very

          4  frankly, for both presenters today, the Health

          5  Department and the Education Department, because

          6  although I must say the Health Department

          7  perspective was very lucid and very scientific and

          8  very clear, you know, much of what she said was

          9  absolutely well grounded, but as far as the

         10  Education Department, I understand that they're lost

         11  in this. They don't have a handle on it. When you

         12  look at -- and when I think about it, 1,200 schools,

         13  training ten people in these schools, I could see

         14  that would overwhelm them, but they need, as they

         15  said, advice, good advice, on how to go about it,

         16  and it can be extremely cost effective. And this

         17  notion they have to pay teachers extra and all of

         18  that, it's a bunch of baloney, they don't have to do

         19  that. They will garner enough volunteers in these

         20  schools to make this work, and as far as people

         21  being at sites, at games and these other things

         22  about, oh, we're going to have to pay people to be

         23  that. Baloney. They're going to train health

         24  teachers, they're going to train custodians, they're

         25  going to train certain people strategically in the
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          2  school, and they're going to do it thoughtfully, and

          3  then that accounts for the variable hours of the day

          4  and who will be there to act when it occurs.

          5                 And once you put the instructor in

          6  the school environment, you put the teacher as an

          7  instructor, a defibrillator instructor in a school

          8  environment, then you're basically procreating

          9  rescuers, not the least of which will be every

         10  student in the school will learn CPR and learn how

         11  to use an AED.

         12                 So, it's a very simple formula, but

         13  I'm not being naive to say the magnitude here is

         14  great, it's just that they need a little more advice

         15  and a little more guidance in doing it.

         16                 There are requirements. Both Lynne

         17  and I are struggling with the logistics. I also have

         18  40 sites on Long Island that I monitor for Public

         19  Access Defibrillation and CPR, and our demands are

         20  greater because we're involved in a scientific

         21  study, and it's much more rigorous than would be

         22  expected of the schools, but it's quite doable. It

         23  needs a couple of -- it needs a champion at each

         24  school, it needs a few people trained but it's

         25  infinitely doable. Basically -- and I don't think
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          2  there's any debate about, very frankly, the school

          3  system having defibrillators, that's done. It's the

          4  law. Unless you're going to go change it. We're not

          5  here to discuss whether they should be in the

          6  schools or not in the schools. They're in the

          7  schools. That's the law.

          8                 So, all we have to discuss now is how

          9  to overcome the bureaucracy, how to overcome the

         10  logistics, and they just need good advice. Which I'm

         11  sure they have plenty of with the Heart Association

         12  and other sources, and I would only encourage them

         13  to really look for cost-effective solutions and not

         14  go crazy paying people millions of dollars to do

         15  this. They don't have to do that, okay? It doesn't

         16  have to happen. And I've done this for 20 years in

         17  school, I know it can happen. So, I'll end at that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

         19  Jackson.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

         21  And I appreciate all of your testimony. And to go

         22  back to a question that I asked of the Department of

         23  Education concerning, they put out an RFP for the

         24  whole administration and implementation and

         25  training, what have you, and that's going to be
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          2  millions and millions and millions of dollars, and

          3  what I'm hearing from you is that, yes, there's

          4  1,200 schools, and if they train six to eight

          5  people, and you were here when they testified? Were

          6  you here?

          7                 MR. STAPLETON: Oh, yes. I've been

          8  here through all the testimony.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And I had

         10  asked about, you know, instead of the consultant

         11  reaching out, they should reach out in order to get

         12  the volunteers.

         13                 MR. STAPLETON: Right.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Do you think

         15  that a system should be contracted out or should be

         16  community-minded, as what I heard earlier. Because I

         17  hear of more community-minded programs --

         18                 MR. STAPLETON: I'll blend both things

         19  together.

         20                 With the magnitude of this project,

         21  it may not be unwise to hire somebody who knows what

         22  the hell they're doing to oversee the whole thing.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Oversee the

         24  whole thing, okay.

         25                 MR. STAPLETON: It's a big project.
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          2                 But I would tell them, my advice to

          3  them is watch out, there are a lot of entrepreneurs

          4  out there that come in with $10 million production

          5  projects for doing this. I mean, I can charge you

          6  $60 a person and come in and do the whole job

          7  tomorrow. I'll line up the instructors, it will be

          8  no problem. But that's the problem when you put out

          9  an RFP, you're going to get that kind of a result.

         10                 What they need is good advice from

         11  the heart association and people like Lynne to guide

         12  them on how they might go about it. Not to put you

         13  on the spot Lynne. But to go about it in a

         14  systematic fashion.

         15                 DR. RICHARDSON: I've offered them

         16  help.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You've

         18  offered them help?

         19                 DR. RICHARDSON: And certainly the

         20  Moyers, I would agree they would be excellent in

         21  some of their ideas to go about this in such a way

         22  that it can be cost effective, and certainly not

         23  embark upon some $10 million contract, to have

         24  somebody come in and do the training at $50 a head,

         25  which could likely happen in an RFP. They should put
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          2  their antennas up to that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You heard my

          4  asking them about FDNY, whether or not they've

          5  reached out in agreement with FDNY, and I think

          6  Margarita Lopez mentioned the Health and Hospitals

          7  Corp.

          8                 DR. RICHARDSON: Let me respond to

          9  that. I'm pretty familiar with the level, as is Ed

         10  perhaps, with the level of training capacity within

         11  both FDNY and the Health and Hospital Corporation.

         12  And the fact is there is not sufficient capacity to

         13  train an additional ten or 15,000 people this year.

         14  There simply is not.

         15                 As was pointed out, people who give

         16  the training have to be certified as instructors.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes.

         18                 DR. RICHARDSON: So, although all of

         19  the firefighters in New York City have been trained

         20  as first responders with defibrillators, so CFRD,

         21  the number of instructors who are qualified to train

         22  others is actually within the Fire Department,

         23  exactly the model that Ed described, because this is

         24  a model we rolled out in the Fire Department when

         25  that requirement went out at each station ideally,
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          2  you know, the lieutenant or someone was trained as

          3  an instructor who would do the training and

          4  retraining in that station, and, in fact, currently

          5  my understanding is that the training capacity

          6  within FDNY is not quite enough to keep up with the

          7  training and retraining for FDNY, let alone take on

          8  tens of thousands of expert people.

          9                 I do think what there is there is the

         10  expertise for how to model this, and Ed is

         11  absolutely right. It would be very easy to come in

         12  with the response to the RFP that says, you know,

         13  I'll train all 15,000 at X number per head, as

         14  opposed to a model where it's, all right, what we

         15  need to do is to train how ever many hundred

         16  certified instructors, have them train the others,

         17  because then you'd have a self-sustaining program.

         18  Do not underestimate the significance of

         19  supplemental training and retraining. With staff

         20  turnover, it's very easy to underestimate how

         21  difficult it is to keep a sufficient number of

         22  trained individuals at all of the locations at all

         23  times. So, it really is a massive undertaking, you

         24  have to deal with events, and you know, as you said.

         25                 The issue of to what extent will
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          2  people volunteer, to what extent will people, even

          3  if they volunteer, will they have to volunteer on

          4  their own time, or will they be released from their

          5  duties, so the costs also include how ever many

          6  hours, that four hours for the staff, someone has to

          7  backfill, you have to pay substitutes to take their

          8  classes, et cetera. So, it's very much a non-trivial

          9  expense. Even if you do it in a very effective

         10  thought-out way.

         11                 I, too, felt for the Deputy

         12  Chancellor, because some of us have been doing this

         13  a long time and it would be a daunting undertaking

         14  for us, for a group of neophytes, I can imagine that

         15  the fact that it took them 11 months just to figure

         16  out they needed an RFP doesn't really surprise me.

         17  But I don't think we have the excess capacity in the

         18  system.

         19                 Now, should it be programmatically

         20  vested in the system that if you're going to pay

         21  some money, that's who you should pay it to? That

         22  would be a discussion worth having, but I think all

         23  of the City agencies are very loathe to take on

         24  additional responsibilities unless clear resources

         25  come with those responsibilities.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You mentioned

          3  that you've reached to, I guess the Department of

          4  Education?

          5                 DR. RICHARDSON: Well, no, for the

          6  first -- I mean, I sat listening to this, and I was

          7  introduced to one of the officials and I gave her my

          8  card and I said, listen, call me --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I was going

         10  to say, in looking here with the expertise here and

         11  the expertise of the family members, you know, you

         12  make the foundation of a great advisory board to

         13  implement the program here in New York City.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Yes, I just want

         15  to say, I don't mean to interrupt.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: No, go ahead.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: You know, the 11

         18  month thing with the RFP, I think it is inexcusable

         19  in that, you know, if they were propped on a desert

         20  island and there was, you know, a health and

         21  hospitals corporation with a terrific president, if

         22  there wasn't a board of health or which you're a

         23  member, if there wasn't, you know, some of the

         24  leading teaching hospitals in the world in this

         25  City, if there wasn't an EMS union and a -- I mean,
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          2  if they didn't have resources that were eminently

          3  acceptable, then I could say, okay, you were in a

          4  complete and utter vacuum and you couldn't figure it

          5  out and it took you 11 months to know you didn't

          6  understand it, but they weren't in a complete and

          7  utter vacuum. You know, if we could pull together

          8  four people who in and of themselves, Council Member

          9  Jackson is right, would be a great advisory panel,

         10  they should have been able to figure it out pretty

         11  quickly that they didn't have the in-house knowledge

         12  and it seems to me one call to the Department

         13  Health, who would have said call the Board of

         14  Health, could have --

         15                 DR. RICHARDSON: They spoke to OEM and

         16  Eddie Gabriel has been, just as long as Ed and I

         17  have, and I think they got some good advice from him

         18  about what they needed.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Well, then it took

         20  them 11 months to listen, and that's not acceptable.

         21                 MR. STAPLETON: I'm not going to

         22  excuse the Education Department, they probably could

         23  have done a better job. We're more into let's go

         24  solve it.

         25                 DR. RICHARDSON: Yes, let's go now.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Madam Chair,

          3  my last comment is, for the cost of what the family

          4  said, let's assume $1,400 for the equipment and for

          5  people to come in and train the staff, as you said,

          6  you use it as an educational tool in the entire

          7  school, so even though it may save a life, and the

          8  probability may be very little when you look at a

          9  cost analysis as far as implementing it all over the

         10  system, but to use it just as an educational tool

         11  for our community to become more involved in saving

         12  lives and organ donations and like I'm a spleen, a

         13  donor, I've registered, and I've donated my mother's

         14  eyes when she passed away.

         15                 I read in the paper today where a

         16  Japanese man came here to meet three individuals

         17  when his son died, seven individuals received

         18  transplant organs. That's what we have to do in

         19  order to look after each other from a global

         20  perspective. And, so, you know, I can just see that

         21  $2,000 as an investment tool to educate, as an

         22  educational tool, and possibly saving a life.

         23                 DR. RICHARDSON: I hope that that's

         24  what this turns into, and I actually like very much

         25  what Ed said about there are many, many benefits to
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          2  putting these programs in schools beyond the medical

          3  benefits. What I keep hearing, though, is that we

          4  need AEDs in the schools to save lives, and that's

          5  problematic for me, but if you are telling me that

          6  you want to train a whole generation of children in

          7  CPR and the use of AEDs because of what that will

          8  mean in the future, sign me up. Unfortunately, we

          9  have been trying without success for many years to

         10  get a CPR mandate, that CPR be taught in all schools

         11  in New York State, we've been unsuccessful in

         12  getting that through the State Legislature, but then

         13  they give us AED. So, it's sometimes hard to

         14  understand that powers that be.

         15                 MR. ROSENWALD: I would like to add

         16  something, please.

         17                 The American Heart Association,

         18  within the last year, came out with a program called

         19  CPR in Schools. What they would like to do is train

         20  phys ed teachers and then change the course, which

         21  is usually a four or eight-hour course in one

         22  evening or one day, and spread it out over the phys

         23  ed class over an eight-week period, so the students

         24  can learn. Okay, so that's available. I don't know

         25  how we're going to implement it. I'm sure the
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          2  higher-ups are hard at working at it.

          3                 I am an HHC employee. The community

          4  and training center that I run at Bellevue Hospital

          5  is willing to partner with our school district,

          6  whether it be to just train in Heartsaver AED, or

          7  Train the Trainer.

          8                 I might suggest that other CTCs

          9  throughout the community partner with their

         10  districts. I don't know how that's going to work,

         11  but it's an idea.

         12                 MR. SMITH: Just the logistical thing.

         13  I think it was Mrs. Moyer's comment that she made as

         14  far as logistics in training teachers. I know often

         15  times I'm also a teacher along with being an

         16  athletic trainer, and the school districts are

         17  constantly adding things on top of your day and in

         18  addition to and in addition to, and the doctor's

         19  comment about having to provide substitute coverage

         20  as an additional expense, well there's a real simple

         21  solution: Instead of bringing in a speaker which

         22  they usually do on a Superintendents Conference Day

         23  and pay that person $4,000 a day or whatever they

         24  get for their speaking, which is one of these

         25  new-fangled schemes that kind of goes by the wayside
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          2  when the new one comes out, use Superintendents

          3  Conference Day as a day to train staff in CPR, AED

          4  and you're not wasting a day, it's built into the

          5  teacher's day, it's not in addition to, there's not

          6  that additional expense of substitute coverage.

          7                 So, just a logistical thing that Mrs.

          8  Moyer mentioned, and I think it kind of fell by the

          9  wayside.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

         11  Oddo, who I guess could make $4,000 a day now at a

         12  Superintendents' Convention going through training.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Good thing the

         14  City Council is a part-time job, huh, Chris?

         15                 I just have a few general comments.

         16  First to Mr. Smith, congratulations on a job well

         17  done. It's got to be an amazing feeling and well

         18  done.

         19                 Just a few things. Just if I may

         20  sanitize the record, if you will, so that during my

         21  rant if I sort of misspoke, I never asked for a cost

         22  effective analysis, or a cost benefit analysis, what

         23  I took exception to was the comment about a cost

         24  benefit analysis by the DOH and my comment was that

         25  I look at AEDs, and I think AEDs should be looked at
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          2  as we look at our firefighters, as a safety net, and

          3  that we shouldn't look at them based on how many

          4  fires they put out or how many lives they saved.

          5                 So, I'm not looking for a

          6  cost-effective analysis from the Department of

          7  Education and the Department of Health.

          8                 And I absolutely agree with you, Dr.

          9  Richardson, that the key is to put these devices

         10  where the people are going into cardiac arrest and

         11  that's why in my bill at least, the sites that we've

         12  selected, and I have to admit to you, my bill is

         13  dated, I drafted that bill as a staff person several

         14  years ago, so we absolutely, everyone at this table

         15  agrees that the key is, not only because we're in a

         16  fiscal crisis, but the key to making this program is

         17  effective is to put them where people are going into

         18  cardiac arrest. But that's what the legislative

         19  process is about, that's why you have hearings,

         20  that's why we meet with the Administration and we

         21  hone those locations, like we do with any other

         22  bill.

         23                 With respect to the mammoth task that

         24  the Department of Education has, we readily admit

         25  that. My problem is, and the conclusion that I have
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          2  reached after hearing all the verbiage, is that

          3  there was never a level or urgency in this agency,

          4  and they may have changed the name but the MO may

          5  have stayed the same, there was never a level or

          6  urgency back in May, and the only time that there

          7  seemed to be an urgency is after the fact and after

          8  the three deaths highlighted the fact that they were

          9  in compliance. And it's great, Mr. Rosenwald

         10  testified that the American Heart Association has

         11  met with the Bloomberg Administration and Department

         12  of Education in January 2003. I would feel much

         13  better about DOE if that said May 2002 or September

         14  2002, so the frustration that you heard today was

         15  that we failed to realize how difficult it is to

         16  implement this program systemwide. I think the

         17  frustration you hear, the genesis of that

         18  frustration is that they didn't start tackling this

         19  task until after the fact.

         20                 And I just will end with this: Mr.

         21  Stapleton mentioned about the fact that this

         22  logistical nightmare that we've been led to believe,

         23  I have to tell you this, in April of 2001, in

         24  District 31 in Staten Island, which is the biggest,

         25  the largest school district prior to being broken up
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          2  into subdistricts, we were well underway in

          3  implementing a program. Karen Acompora, Mr.

          4  Stapleton came out, we had Ed Gabriel out, we had

          5  the teachers, the UFT, principals, all working

          6  together, and we were well on our way, and Robert

          7  was here, we had the money, I had the money

          8  allocated, and that process was going to happen and

          9  it really, the roadblock was 9/11, and

         10  understandably so, that and many other projects.

         11                 But I mean, we were cutting through

         12  all of the nonsense at a pretty good clip on Staten

         13  Island and I think we could have actually been the

         14  model, and I think that as difficult as it is, I

         15  think we've heard a lot of rhetoric today to make,

         16  to exacerbate, or to exaggerate, I should say, those

         17  difficulties to do a little CYA.

         18                 DR. RICHARDSON: I bow to your

         19  superior knowledge of the political motives of City

         20  agencies and officials.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You know I wish

         22  more people in this building would do that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

         24  Stewart.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you.
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          2                 Dr. Richardson, you said not the

          3  schools, it shouldn't be the schools that should be

          4  a priority, where would you put the AEDs? Where

          5  would you put them? Where is the priority right now?

          6                 DR. RICHARDSON: Again, there are

          7  really two factors that go into the frequency of

          8  cardiac arrests, and, so, places where there are

          9  large concentrations of people over the age of 50,

         10  for example, we have as part of our PAD program,

         11  senior assisted living facilities that are quite

         12  small, less than 100 people, where they have a

         13  documented history of one to two cardiac arrests per

         14  year, because of the nature of the population.

         15                 And places that have a very high

         16  volume of a mixed group of individuals, for example,

         17  airports, we know just because of the volume of

         18  people who go in and out, that there are going to be

         19  multiple cardiac arrest documented each year.

         20                 New York City, it would include some

         21  of the places already mentioned, Grand Central

         22  Station, perhaps Penn Station.

         23                 We have EMS data that allows us to

         24  look by location at where cardiac arrests occur, and

         25  this is what we did for the PAD trial, so we could
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          2  actually look at the frequency by address of cardiac

          3  arrests, and those become the priority locations for

          4  where you implement the program based on the history

          5  of where cardiac arrests occur.

          6                 It's not an easy system to work with

          7  in terms of the way the data is kept by New York

          8  City EMS Division in FDNY. There are other places

          9  with a more computerized information system where

         10  it's much easier, but it is possible to do, and I

         11  think it's worth doing. And if what comes out of

         12  this is that perhaps myself and other interested

         13  knowledgeable individuals work with you to develop a

         14  formula and criteria for where the defibrillators

         15  go, I would think that a very satisfactory result.

         16  However, I have to tell you, right now, although it

         17  makes sense to me if you're going to place them, to

         18  put them in the places where cardiac arrests

         19  occurred, that data we have, how many lives you will

         20  actually save by placing them I can't answer yet.

         21  And that's the information that will come out of the

         22  PAD data, are they effective? Because it's not just

         23  are they there? Do people use them? Do people go get

         24  them when someone collapses? Do they remember the

         25  training? Do they dial 911, or do they get so
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          2  involved with the machine that they forget to dial

          3  911 and then the advanced care component doesn't

          4  happen and you lose people that way.

          5                 So there are lots of unanswered

          6  questions about not whether or not defibrillators

          7  work, but whether or not public access

          8  defibrillation works, and how you implement it most

          9  effectively.

         10                 And our knowledge of that will

         11  continue to grow as a result of the PAD trial, a

         12  release so that we can make the program more and

         13  more effective.

         14                 But let's start by putting them where

         15  cardiac arrests occur.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Last

         17  question. Mr. Rosenwald, you said that two years ago

         18  you worked with the Giuliani Administration on a

         19  plan to place the AEDs; could you tell me you have

         20  placed so far, and where did you place them?

         21                 MR. ROSENWALD: Actually, I came down

         22  to City Hall on an evening a few weeks before Mayor

         23  Giuliani's State of the City Address, when he

         24  announced that he would be purchasing all this new

         25  modern technology. So I demonstrated the use of the
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          2  AED for him so he could learn to use it so the night

          3  that he made the announcement that he would be

          4  purchasing the 2,000 units, he would be able to

          5  demonstrate its use.

          6                 So, those are the same 2,000 that

          7  were cut back to a couple of hundred that we've been

          8  discussing all day.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So, I didn't

         10  say you placed 2,000. You said two years ago we

         11  worked with the Giuliani Administration on the plan

         12  to place AEDs in public places, and then say while

         13  the project has faced many challenges, the project

         14  continues. So, I just want to know how many you have

         15  placed so far?

         16                 MR. ROSENWALD: Me personally, none.

         17  The Office of Emergency Management was the one who

         18  actually placed it in conjunction with the American

         19  Heart Association, deciding where they should go.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: It's the same ones

         21  that Commissioner Gabriel outlined in the Office of

         22  Emergency Management.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Oh, all

         24  right.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Commissioner
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          2  Gabriel's testimony will be part of the record. It's

          3  126, is Commissioner Gabriel's testimony.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right,

          5  thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I just want to

          7  say, you know, we will definitely take you up on

          8  your offer. As I said to the Commissioner, that we,

          9  you know, want to move forward with this issue of

         10  AEDs and public access, and obviously we would want

         11  to make sure that whatever legislation or initiative

         12  we do is as, you know, targeted to places of need,

         13  you know, need being where people are having these

         14  cardiac incidents, need being the best place to

         15  increase awareness, et cetera, and I think I speak

         16  for the Committee, and certainly Council Member Oddo

         17  would love to work with people on whatever state

         18  initiatives there are around CPR, because,

         19  obviously, that I think for people in the health

         20  care industry, it must have been frustrating to be

         21  pushing for a long time to get that and that that

         22  wasn't even part of this.

         23                 And we also probably need to talk

         24  about education that goes along with requiring AEDs

         25  in public spaces for things like 911.
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          2                 So, we will definitely be calling on

          3  all of you, again, to make sure that the

          4  legislation, as we move forward and update it, is as

          5  focused and as helpful as it could be.

          6                 So, I want to thank everybody for

          7  their patience, for being here for such a long

          8  hearing, and this, which I guess is round one, is

          9  adjourned.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 (Hearing concluded at 6:00 p.m.)
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